THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION  
APPELLATE PANEL

---

W.C.C. File No. 0725187  
Appellate Tracking No. 2012-211392

---

George W. Thomas, .....Respondent,

v.

5 Star Transportation, .....Appellant,

and

S.C. Uninsured Employers' Fund.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

**RECEIVED**

JUL 08 2013

**SC Court of Appeals**

Michael E. Chase (Bar No. 15230)  
Carmelo B. Sammataro (Bar No. 69746)  
TURNER PADGET GRAHAM & LANEY P.A.  
Post Office Box 1473  
Columbia, SC 29202  
Phone: (803) 254-2200  
Fax: (803) 799-3957

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

##

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE COMMISSION ERR IN DETERMINING THAT RESPONDENT'S DECEDENT'S INJURIES AROSE OUT OF AND IN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT?**
- II. DID THE COMMISSION ERR IN ITS DETERMINATION THAT THOMAS IS A SURVIVING SPOUSE WHO IS ENTITLED TO BENEFITS?**
- III. DID THE COMMISSION ERR IN RECOGNIZING AND APPLYING THE PUTATIVE MARRIAGE DOCTRINE TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Emily Thomas (“Thomas”), proceeding as the putative spouse of Decedent George Thomas (“Decedent”), initiated these proceedings with the filing of her Form 52, Request for Hearing, on June 26, 2008. (Request for Hearing dated June 26, 2008) In her Form 52, Request for Hearing, Thomas alleged George Thomas sustained an accidental death arising out of and in the course and scope of his employment with Appellant 5 Star Transportation, LLC (“5 Star”) on November 19, 2007. She further alleged that as the wife of the deceased employee, she is presumed to be totally dependent upon her Decedent and, therefore, entitled to benefits pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-290. Following compliance proceedings, the South Carolina Uninsured Employer’s Fund (“UEF”) was joined as a party. In their timely filed Forms 53, Employer’s Answer, 5 Star and the UEF denied George Thomas’ death arose out of and in the course and scope of his employment, denied Thomas was his wife, and denied that she was dependent upon him for support. (Forms 53 dated July 30 and August 7, 2008)

Subsequent to oral argument on December 19, 2008, the single commissioner granted a motion to dismiss by 5 Star and the UEF based upon Thomas’ lack of standing to pursue this action via Decision and Order entered March 30, 2009. (March 30, 2009 Decision and Order) Specifically, the single commissioner determined that Thomas’ marriage to George Thomas was void *ab initio* because George Thomas was already married to another at the time of his ostensible marriage to Thomas. (*Id.*, Finding of Fact 3, p. 7) Further, the single commissioner found as fact that the relationship between Thomas and her Decedent did not thereafter ripen into a valid marriage or common law married once the impediment was removed and, therefore, Thomas had no standing to

pursue her claim. (*Id.*, Findings of Fact 8-12, p. 8)

By Order filed January 20, 2010, the Appellate Panel vacated and remanded for a *de novo* hearing. (January 20, 2010 Decision and Order) After hearing argument on December 18, 2010, the single commissioner issued his May 3, 2011 Decision and Order in which he concluded that George Thomas' death was compensable and that Thomas was his common law wife at the time of his death. (May 3, 2011 Decision and Order) Alternatively, the single commissioner determined Thomas was entitled to benefits pursuant to the "putative marriage doctrine." 5 Star sought timely review of the May 3, 2011 Decision and Order via its Form 30, Request for Commission Review, filed May 17, 2011. (May 17, 2011 Form 30, Request for Commission Review)

Following oral argument on December 19, 2011, the Appellate Panel of the Full Commission issued its March 15, 2012 Decision and Order affirming the May 3, 2011 Decision and Order of the single commissioner in its entirety. (March 15, 2012 Decision and Order) This appeal followed.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At all times relevant to this appeal, Decedent was employed by 5 Star as a tour bus driver. Prior to the events giving rise to this claim, Decedent was married to Gloria Thomas, and they had two children, Cassandra Thomas Bennett and Terri Lynn Thomas. (March 15, 2012 Decision and Order, p. 6) Both Cassandra and Terri had reached the age of majority prior to Decedent's death, and neither was financially dependent on their father. (*Id.*) George Thomas married a second time, to Barbara Thomas, and they had one child together, Keturah Hodges. (*Id.*) Like Ms. Bennett and Ms. Thomas, Keturah Hodges was over the age of 18 and not financially dependent on her father at the time of his death. (*Id.*) Decedent married a third wife, Cynthia Whaley, on February 9, 1995; however, no children were born of this union. (*Id.*) A dependency investigation conducted by agents employed by 5 Star and the UEF found no evidence of any other children, that any of Decedent's known children were minors, or that they were financially dependent upon him. (*Id.*)

Decedent and Thomas participated in a marriage ceremony on September 19, 2006. (March 15, 2012 Decision and Order, p. 6) At the time of his attempted marriage to Thomas, however, Decedent had not yet obtained a divorce from Cynthia Whaley. (*Id.*) Decedent did not obtain a divorce from Cynthia Whaley until February 9, 2007, nearly five months after his attempted union with Thomas. (*Id.*) Thomas testified that she did not become aware of this fact until after Decedent's death. (*Id.*)

On November 19, 2007, Decedent was driving a 5 Star bus in the west bound lanes of Interstate 26 when he became unresponsive, lost control of the bus, and ran off of the paved surface of the roadway before striking a tree. (Mach 15, 2012 Decision and

Order, p. 4) The collision occurred at approximately 1:00 a.m., and Decedent was pronounced dead on the scene by emergency response personnel at 1:12 a.m. (*Id.*) The Dorchester County Coroner's Office responded to the accident scene at approximately 2:22 a.m., after which time fire department personnel extricated Decedent from the bus wreckage. (*Id.*)

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE COMMISSION ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT RESPONDENT'S DECEDENT'S INJURIES AROSE OUT OF AND IN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT.

The Commission erred in affirming the single commissioner's award of benefits because substantial evidence does not support the conclusion that the underlying accident arose out of Decedent's employment. While 5 Star does not contest the accident occurred in the course of Decedent's employment, Thomas also must demonstrate it arose out of his employment. Pursuant to the Workers' Compensation Act, arising out of the employment specifically refers to the origin and cause of the injury. *See, e.g., Radcliffe v. Southern Aviation School*, 208 S.C. 411, 422, 40 S.E.2d 626, 631 (1946) ("The word 'accident' . . . has been defined as the cause of the injury. . . .") (internal quotation and citation omitted).

More recently, this Court has explained the "arising out of" requirement, noting that "[a]n injury arises out of employment when there is apparent to the rational mind, upon consideration of all the circumstances, a causal relationship between the conditions under which the work is to be performed and the resulting injury." *Crosby v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 330 S.C. 489, 493, 499 S.E.2d 253, 255 (Ct. App. 1998) (quoting *Owings v. Anderson County Sheriff's Dept.*, 315 S.C. 297, 433 S.E.2d 869 (1993)). Only where the injury results as the "natural incident of work and as a result of the exposure occasioned by the nature of the employment" does it arise out of employment. *Id.* (quoting *Holley v. Owens Corning Fiberglass Corp.*, 301 S.C. 519, 392 S.E.2d 804 (Ct. App. 1990), *aff'd*, 302 S.C. 518, 397 S.E.2d 377 (1990)). "Excluded from the Act, however, is an injury which cannot be fairly traced to the employment as a contributing proximate cause and

which comes from a hazard to which the workmen would have been equally exposed apart from the employment.” *Id.* (citing *Jones v. Hampton Pontiac*, 304 S.C. 440, 405 S.E.2d 395 (1991)).

In *Crosby*, claimant fell while walking through her place of employment but could not identify what, if anything, caused her to stumble. 330 S.C. at 490, 499 S.E.2d at 254. On appeal, the court affirmed the denial of compensation benefits given claimant’s failure to establish a causal connection between her idiopathic fall and her employment. *Id.* at 496, 499 S.E.2d at 257. Going further, the court noted that absent special conditions or circumstances, compensation for idiopathic level-floor falls will be denied. *Id.* (citing *Bagwell v. Ernest Burwell, Inc.*, 227 S.C. 444, 88 S.E.2d 611 (1955)). Further, the “denial of compensation based on some internal breakdown of the body has also been extended by our courts to a situation that did not involve a level-floor fall.” *Id.* (citing *Miller v. Springs Cotton Mills*, 225 S.C. 326, 82 S.E.2d 458 (1954)).

In *Miller*, claimant injured her knee when she arose from a cafeteria table but was denied benefits because the “failure of claimant’s knee to function normally was the cause of her near-fall and not the near-fall the cause of the injury to the knee.” 82 S.E. at 459. As noted by the court:

It would be wholly conjectural to say under the evidence . . . that claimant’s employment was a contributing cause of her injury. ***To sustain an award of compensation in the instant case would necessitate opening the floodgates and holding that every internal failure suffered by an employee in the course of his employment becomes an accident just because it happens.***

*Id.* (emphasis added) The court reached the same result in *Burnett v. Appleton Co.*, 208 S.C. 53, 37 S.E.2d 269 (1946). There, claimant injured his leg while pushing a truck of cloth up a slight incline onto an elevator. *Id.* at 269. The court determined that evidence

showing claimant experienced pain and swelling in his leg while pushing the cart up an incline was insufficient to show that he sustained an injury by accident within the meaning of the Act.

Applying this precedent to the facts of the present case, it becomes clear that the injuries sustained by Thomas' Decedent are not compensable as a work-related injuries. First, the Decedent's injuries do not satisfy the "arising out of" test stated in *Crosby*, which specifically precludes compensation for injuries wherein the employment cannot be established as a contributing proximate cause and where the injury stems from a common hazard to which the claimant would be exposed outside the employment. In this instance, sustaining an aneurysm is a "risk" to which the Decedent would have been exposed regardless of the nature of his employment.

Thus, as noted above, this appeal turns on whether Thomas sustained her burden of establishing Decedent's rupture of the saccular aneurysm, and therefore the accident, arose out of the conditions of his employment. The medical examiner's report makes clear Decedent in fact sustained a ruptured aneurysm. (Schandl Dep., p. 6, line 21 - p. 7, line 6) That much is undisputed. What is subject to dispute, and the reason Thomas cannot sustain her burden of proving a compensable injury, is the fact that Dr. Schandl could not state to any degree of medical certainty whether the aneurysm resulted from a degenerative process or congenital defect unrelated to Decedent's employment or from a condition of the employment itself. (*Id.*, p. 5, lines 11-17) Instead, she confirmed that Decedent's aneurysm was in fact a condition in existence prior to the time of the accident and found no indication that it was caused by trauma. (*Id.*, p. 6, lines 13-19)

Adding to Thomas' critical inability to demonstrate a causal relationship between Decedent's medical condition and his employment, she cannot demonstrate<sup>1</sup> with medical evidence that the injury arose in the course of his employment. See S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160 (E) ("In medically complex cases, an employee shall establish by medical evidence that the injury arose in the course of employment. . . . 'medically complex cases' means sophisticated cases requiring highly scientific procedures or techniques for diagnosis or treatment excluding MRIs, CAT scans, x-rays, or other similar diagnostic techniques."). Going further, Thomas was required to proffer medical evidence consisting of "expert opinion or testimony stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, documents, records, or other material that is offered by a licensed health care provider." See S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160(G). Because she could not meet this burden, it was error for the Commission to conclude her Decedent sustained a compensable work-related injury.

The testimony of Dr. Schandl, the only medical professional to offer testimony in these proceedings, is instructive. When asked to state her opinion within a reasonable degree of medical certainty with regard to the cause of the ruptured aneurysm, she testified "*I don't know what caused the aneurysm to rupture* because I don't know when it ruptured." (Schandl Dep. p. 8, lines 1-3) (emphasis added) It necessarily follows that inasmuch as Dr. Schandl was unable to opine with certainty as to the cause of the rupture, Thomas has not met her burden of establishing that the injury arose out of her Decedent's employment. 5 Star is, therefore, entitled to reversal of the Commission's order.

---

<sup>1</sup> It is beyond argument that the claimant in any case for worker's compensation benefits bears the burden of proof. *Smith v. Union Bleachery/Cone Mills*, 276 S.C. 454, 280 S.E.2d 52 (1981).

The single commissioner, affirmed by the Commission, erred in finding as fact that Decedent may have had a chance to survive. (May 3, 2011 Decision and Order, p. 15) The question of survival from the ruptured aneurysm simply was not relevant to the determination of compensability where the critical threshold question is the reason Decedent became unresponsive and ran off of the roadway in the first instance. On this point, Dr. Schandl agreed that the history provided to her by the coroner was consistent with that of an individual suffering from a ruptured aneurysm. (Schandl Dep., p. 8, lines 16-17)

The Commission compounded its error when it affirmed the single commissioner's application of the "increased danger rule" to award benefits, relying specifically upon this Court's holding in *Crosby*. (May 3, 2011 Decision and Order, p. 20) The Commission's reliance on *Crosby*, however, is misplaced as that decision involved the denial of a claim for benefits arising from an unexplained, idiopathic fall. Indeed, nowhere in that opinion did this Court adopt any sort of "increased danger rule." Rather, it discussed unexplained falls in terms of those which are "unwanted or purely unexplained." *Id.*, 330 S.C. at 495. Going further, the Commission's reliance on *Bagwell*, actually militates in favor a finding that the instant claim is not compensable. (May 3, 2011 Decision and Order, p. 21) The worker in *Bagwell* fell for unexplained reasons and suffered a subdural hematoma that lead to this death two days later. The *Crosby* Court, in *dicta*, noted that Bagwell's "*fall* was due to some apparent internal failure or weakness" and that it would amount to conjecture or speculation to find any cause for the fall attributable to the decedent's work. *Crosby*, 330 S.C. at 493, 499 S.E.2d at 256.

Where, as here, there is no expert medical evidence to assist Thomas in meeting her burden to establish that the injury arose out of Decedent's employment, the claim is not compensable. The Commission erred in ruling to the contrary and should be reversed.

**II. THE COMMISSION ERRED IN ITS DETERMINATION THAT THOMAS IS A SURVIVING SPOUSE WHO IS ENTITLED TO BENEFITS.**

The Commission erred in finding Thomas is a surviving spouse who is entitled to collect workers compensation benefits. There is no dispute that Decedent was married to another woman, Cynthia Whaley ("Whaley"), on the date he purported to enter into a marital relationship with Thomas. It also is undisputed that Decedent was not legally divorced from Whaley until February 9, 2007. (May 3, 2011 Decision and Order, Finding of Fact No. 8, p. 15; Claimant's APAs, Ex. A) Therefore, pursuant to South Carolina law, the attempted marriage between Thomas and her Decedent was bigamous and void at its inception. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 20-1-80 ("All marriages contracted while either of the parties has a former wife or husband living shall be void.").

Thomas forthrightly conceded from the outset of these proceedings that her marriage to Decedent was bigamous in the eyes of the law. (May 3, 2011 Decision and Order, p. 4) Nevertheless, the Commission erroneously concluded that her relationship with Decedent was transformed into a common law marriage, disregarding the fact that the two cohabitated without ever: (1) recognizing the legal impediment to the existence of a valid marriage; (2) acknowledging at any time the removal of the legal impediment to a valid marriage; and (3) agreeing either to enter into a new, lawful union or to live together as a common law husband and wife.

5 Star acknowledges that a bigamous, illicit marriage may be converted into a common law marriage. What the law requires, and what is missing in this case, however, is an acknowledgement of the impediment to a legal marriage, the removal of the impediment, and an agreement thereafter that man and woman intend to remain together as common law husband and wife. *Lovett v. Lovett*, 329 S.C. 426, 432, 494 S.E.2d 823, 826 (Ct.App. 1997) (citing Christopher L. Blakesley, *The Putative Marriage Doctrine*, 60 Tul. L. Rev. 1, 6 (1985)). In contravention of these clear rules, the Commission relied upon a misreading of this Court's decision in *Prevatte v. Prevatte*, 297 S.C. 345, 377 S.E.2d 114 (Ct.App. 1989), to find the illicit marriage was transformed into a common law marriage without any recognition by Thomas or Decedent of the legal impediment presented by his prior marriage to Whaley. The *Prevatte* Court, relying on a number of earlier cases, stated that an illicit union may be transformed into a valid common law marriage with one important caveat: "the parties must **agree** to enter into a common law marriage **after** the impediment is removed." *Id.*, 297 S.C. at 349, 377 S.E.2d at 117. The Court also noted that the agreement to enter into a common law marriage after the impediment is removed may be "gathered" by the conduct of the parties. *Id.*

In order to establish a conversion or transformation of an illicit union into a valid common law marriage, Thomas was required to prove she became aware of Decedent's marital status (*i.e.*, his prior marriage to Cynthia Whaley) and that she later learned the impediment was removed (*i.e.*, the February 9, 2007 divorce decree). This she has failed to do. In fact, Thomas testified that she was not aware until after Decedent's death that he was not divorced from Whaley until February 9, 2007. (December 18, 2008 Hr'g Trans., p. 21, lines 4-10) Thus, the conduct of the parties during the period between

February 9, 2007, and November 19, 2007, amounts to nothing more than a couple holding themselves out as a legally married couple who never *agreed* to enter into a common law marriage once the impediment to Decedent's legal union with another was removed. There simply was no evidence from which the Commission could "gather" that a valid common law marriage existed between Thomas and Decedent at the time of his death.

The witnesses Thomas presented at the hearing before the single commission did nothing to change the required outcome in this case for one simple reason. Not one of them testified that Thomas was aware that Decedent was legally married to another woman at the time of his attempted marriage to Thomas or that the couple agreed to continue as common law husband and wife once that impediment was removed. Indeed, such testimony would have been in direct contravention of Thomas' own testimony that she was unaware of Decedent's marital status at the time of her attempted union with him. All their testimony establishes is that Thomas and Decedent attempted to, but did not succeed in, establishing a valid, legal marital relationship.

### **III. THE COMMISSION ERRED IN RECOGNIZING AND APPLYING THE PUTATIVE MARRIAGE DOCTRINE TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.**

As noted above, the South Carolina Legislature has expressly refused to recognize bigamous marriages, and no South Carolina court has ever adopted the putative marriage doctrine upon which Thomas relies. The Commission's reliance on the decision in *Lovett*, in applying the doctrine is misguided error. In *Lovett*, this Court did not adopt the putative marriage; rather, it merely recognized "that some jurisdictions have adopted the 'putative marriage doctrine.'" The Court did not, however, recognize the doctrine as the law of South Carolina or apply it to afford the plaintiff in that action an elective share in a

probate proceeding.

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