THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION  
APPELLATE PANEL

---

W.C.C. File No. 0725187

Appellate Tracking No. 2012-211392

---

George W. Thomas,

Respondent,

v.

5 Star Transportation,

Appellant,

and

S.C. Uninsured Employer's Fund.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Malcolm M. Crosland, Jr.  
S.C. Bar No.: 8934  
The Steinberg Law Firm, L.L.P.  
Post Office Box 9  
Charleston, SC 29402  
Phone: (843) 720-2800  
Fax: (843) 722-1190

Attorney for the Respondent

RECEIVED

NOV 14 2013

SC Court of Appeals

##

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

(R. pp. 7 - 8). In the Conclusions of Law the Appellate Panel ruled:

SIXTH: As a general rule, injuries attributable to risks or conditions personal to the employee do not arise out of the employment unless the employment contributes to the risk or aggravates the injury. When the employment places the employee in a position of increased danger such as working above ground, near operating machinery, sharp objects, or in a moving vehicle, and the resulting injury is aggravated or worsened by such increased danger, then the resulting injury may be deemed compensable. This is called the increased danger rule. Larson, Workers' Compensation Law § 9.01. South Carolina has applied the increased danger rule in claims involving falls caused by non-occupational heart attacks, epileptic seizures, or fainting spells. In such cases, the Court has held employment which places the employee in a position that increases the dangerous effects from a fall is compensable. Bagwell v. Ernest Burwell, Inc., [237 S.C. 444, 88 S.E.2d 611 (S.C. 1955); *see also*: Allred v. Allred-Gardner, Inc., 117 S.E.2d 476 (N.C. 1960)(injuries sustained in a motor vehicle after the claimant blacked out held compensable). In Crosby v. Wal-Mart Store, Inc., [330 S.C. 489, 499 S.E.2d 253 (Ct. App. 1998), the Court cited Larson and explained the increased danger rule by stating, "Where an employee suffers an idiopathic fall when standing on a level surface, and in the course of the fall, hits no machinery, furniture, or other object such as would contribute to the effect of the fall, the majority of jurisdictions deny compensation." The decedent's [death] arose out of and in the course of his employment because he [was] placed in an increased danger while he was driving a bus at a high rate of speed down the interstate highway. The multiple, fatal injuries suffered by the decedent attest to the increased danger.

(R. pp. 11 - 12).

The Appellant first argues the Appellate Panel's decision is effected by an error of law because, since Dr. Schandl could not state to a reasonable degree of medical certainty whether the Decedent's ruptured aneurism occurred before or as a

result of the collision, the Respondent's proof failed to meet the standard of expert testimony required in "medically complex cases." See: §42-1-160(E) and (G), S.C. Code Anno., as amended 2007. This argument is based on the premise the Decedent died as a result of a ruptured aneurism. While it is true the autopsy revealed the Decedent had suffered a ruptured aneurism, it was not possible to tell whether the aneurism ruptured before or as a result of the collision. Dr. Schandl could not state whether the ruptured cerebral aneurysm occurred before or as a result of the collision, "however, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, this condition did not cause death." (R. p. 202) Dr. Schandl testified, "As far as what contributions the ruptured aneurism provided, this is very unclear to me and uncertain." (R. p. 82). Although the autopsy reported the Decedent was observed to slump over before the collision, Dr. Schandl testified this could have been for numerous reasons including he could have simply fallen asleep. (R. p. 76) Dr. Schandl further explained in her deposition, even if the ruptured cerebral aneurysm preceded the collision, it would not have been immediately life threatening and two-thirds (2/3's) of patients with the same rupture would have survived. (R. p. 24).

What the Respondent sought to prove and did prove to a reasonable degree of medical certainty was that the Decedent died as a result of the blunt force trauma he sustained in the collision. As Dr. Schandl explained, "... there are so many different fatal injuries at that moment of the crash that it's difficult to sort out which one would have made him more dead." (R. p. 80. Dr. Schandl met the required burden of proof when she testified, "...to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, [the Decedent] died as a result of injuries sustained in a motor vehicle

collision.” (R. p. 202).

The Appellant further argues the Appellate Panel “compounded its error” when it cited the decisions in Crosby, supra., and Bagwell, supra., as supporting a ruling of compensability based on the increased danger rule. Both cases involved falls to a level floor. The Courts in both cases noted the absence of any increased danger inherent in level surfaces which would qualify them as hazardous conditions under the special danger rule. The Appellant fails to give effect to the language in Bagwell, supra., discussing the special danger rule:

Our conclusion that claimant has failed to show any causal connection between the fall of deceased and his employment does not, as respondent’s counsel seems to think, end our inquiry. There remains for determination whether the fall bore with it such consequence as would not have occurred except for the employment. In other words, we must inquire whether the employment contributed to the effect of the fall. ‘If, except for the employment, the fall, though due to a cause not related to the employment, would not have carried the consequences it did, then causal connection is established between injury and employment, and the accidental injury arose out of the employment. The employment has subjected the workman to a special danger which in fact resulted in injury.’ Connelly v. Samaritan Hospital, 259 N.Y. 137, 181 N.E. 76, 78.

The Appellant would have this Court end its inquiry with their presumed cause of the injury being a ruptured aneurism and ignore the obvious special danger inherent in driving a multi-ton bus down an interstate highway.

This issue was discussed at some length in the recent decision of Nicholson v. S.C. Dept. of Social Services, Opinion No. 5171 (Ct. App., September 4, 2013). In Nicholson the employee was awarded benefits when she tripped walking on a level

carpeted floor. On appeal the employer argued the claim should have been denied under the “increased-risk doctrine” because the employee was not subjected to a greater danger from a level carpeted floor than the general public. Court of Appeals acknowledged, “The increased-risk doctrine is the prevalent doctrine in the United States. Mark A. Rothstein *et. al.*, *West’s Employment Law* § 7.18 (4<sup>th</sup> ed. 2009). However, a majority of courts that have recently addressed the issue of whether compensation should be awarded to employees who have suffered non-idiopathic falls have adopted the positional-risk doctrine, with a minority of jurisdictions employing the actual-risk doctrine.” The Court of Appeals explained the different doctrines under the “arising out of” requirement:

Courts have taken various approaches to interpreting the “arising out of” requirement. Simmons v. City of Charleston, 349 S.C. 64, 71, 562 S.E.2d 476, 479 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing 1 Arthur Larson & Lex K. Larson, *Larson’s Workers’ Compensation Law* § 3.01 (2001)). The three most common lines of interpretation of the phrase “arising out of” are: (1) the increased-risk doctrine; (2) the positional-risk doctrine; and (3) the actual-risk doctrine. *Id.* Under the increased-risk doctrine, an injury arises out of employment when the employment increases the risk of an injury. *Id.* The positional-risk doctrine provided that “[a]n injury arises out of the employment if it would not have occurred but for the fact that the conditions and obligations of the employment placed the claimant in the position where he was injured.” *Id.* at 71, 562 S.E.2d at 479 (quoting 1 Larson § 3.05). The actual-risk doctrine ignores whether the risk is common to the public and focuses on whether it is a risk of the particular employment. *Id.* at 71, 562 S.E.2d at 479 – 80 (citing Larson § 3.04). Under this doctrine, an injury arises out of employment as long as the employment subjected the claimant to the actual risk that caused the injury. *Id.* at 71, 562 S.E.2d at 480.

The Court of Appeals went on, however, and noted South Carolina has not formally adopted or rejected any of the three doctrines. Instead, the Court of Appeals stated

in order for an injury to arise out of the employment under South Carolina law, “a causal connection must exist between the conditions under which the work is required to be performed and the resulting injury.” Ervin v. Richland Memorial Hospital, 386 S.C. 245, 249, 687 S.E.2d 337, 339 (Ct. App. 2009).

[I]f the injury can be seen to have followed as a natural incident of the work and to have been contemplated by a reasonable person familiar with the whole situation as a result of the exposure occasioned by the nature of the employment, then it arises out of the employment. But it excludes an injury which cannot fairly be traced to the employment as a contributing proximate cause and which comes from a hazard to which the workmen would have been equally exposed apart from the employment. The causative danger must be peculiar to the work and not common to the neighborhood. It must be incidental to the character of the business and not independent of the relation of master and servant. It need not have been foreseen or expected, but after the event it must appear to have had its origin in a risk connected with the employment, and to have flowed from that source as a rational consequence.

Douglas v. Spartan Mills, Startex Div., 245 S.C. 265, 269, 140 S.E.2d 173, 175 (1965).

No matter how the “arising out of” requirement the special danger doctrine are described, the facts of this case fit the bill. Naturally incident to driving a multi-ton bus at highway speeds brings are the increased, positional, and actual risk of serious blunt force trauma in the event of a collision. Unlike walking on a level carpeted floor, it is a risk fairly traced to the employment of a bus driver to which the general public is not equally exposed. A risk connected to and flowing as a natural consequence from the employment that would have been immediately apparent to any reasonable person who witnessed the emergency responders trying to extricate the Decedent from the wreckage on the side of the highway.

As noted in Nicholson, *supra.*, the question of whether an injury arises out of the employment is largely a question of fact for the Commission. *See: Ervin*, *supra.* 386 S.C. at 249, 687 S.E.2d at 175. The Appellate Panel's fifth finding of fact and sixth ruling of law were not affected by an error of law and were supported by substantial evidence. The Decision of the Appellate Panel that the Decedent's death arose out of and in the course of his employment should be affirmed.

- II. The Commission's findings of fact and ruling of law that Emily Thomas is the surviving common law wife of the Decedent were not affected by an error of law and were supported by substantial evidence.

In the Findings of Facts the Appellate Panel found:

SEVENTH: The decedent and Thomas participated in a ceremonial marriage on September 19, 2006. At the time of their marriage the decedent had not yet obtained a divorce from Cynthia Whaley. The decedent and Cynthia Whaley were not divorced until February 9, 2007. At the time of the ceremonial marriage, there is no evidence Thomas was [sic] unaware the decedent had not yet obtained a divorce from his former wife. Thomas testified she did not become aware of this fact until after the decedent's death. Thomas believed she had entered into a valid, lawful marriage with the decedent.

\* \* \*

NINTH: After the decedent was divorced from Cynthia Whaley on February 9, 2007, both he and Thomas held themselves out to the public as husband and wife. The decedent would introduce Thomas to social friends as his wife. The decedent and Thomas frequented a social club, "The Fleet Reserve" in North Charleston, South Carolina, where decedent referred to Thomas as his wife to fellow club members. Thomas accompanied the decedent on several bus trips after the decedent's divorce from Cynthia Whaley. The most recent trip occurred in September or October of 2007, just a few weeks prior to the decedent's death. Thomas would serve snacks and drinks to the passengers during the trips. The decedent would introduce Thomas to the passengers on the trips as his wife over the bus intercom.

system. The decedent and Thomas entered into a contract with A.P.X. Alarm Security Solutions on May 17, 2007. The contract referred to the purchasers as George and Emily Thomas, 5726 Hoover Avenue, North Charleston, South Carolina.

TENTH: The decedent and Thomas were common law husband and wife at the time of the decedent's death. After the decedent's divorce from Cynthia Whaley, they held themselves out to the public, social friends, tour bus passengers, and businesses as being husband and wife. The Social Security Administration recognized Ms. Emily Thomas as being entitled to widow's benefits despite being made aware Mr. Thomas was not divorced at the time of his marriage to Emily Thomas. Thomas had no knowledge that the decedent's divorce from his prior wife was not final and participated in a ceremonial marriage entirely in good faith...

(R. pp. 6 - 8). In the Conclusions of Law the Appellate Panel ruled:

NINTH: A party claiming a common-law marriage must prove the existence of the marriage by the preponderance of the evidence. Ex Parte Blizzard, 193 S.E. 633 (S.C. 1937). The difference between marriage and concubinage rests in the intent of the co-habiting parties. The intent to marry is usually evidenced by the public and unequivocal declaration of the parties, but that is not necessary. The intent to be married may be inferred from the circumstances. Kirby v. Kirby, 270 S.C. 137, 140, 241 S.E. 2d 415, 416 citing Fryer v. Fryer, 9 S.C. Eq. (Rich. Eq. Cas.) 85; String Fellow v. Scott, 9 S.C. Eq. (Rich. Eq. Cas.) 109.

TENTH: In South Carolina, a relationship elicited in its inception does not ripen into common-law marriage once the impediment to marriage is removed. A bigamous marriage is void from its inception and, therefore, cannot be ratified and made valid. S.C. Code Ann. § 20-1-80 (1976). In order for a common-law marriage to arise after the impediment is removed, the parties must intend and agree to enter into a common-law marriage after the impediment is removed. Such intent and agreement may be inferred from the circumstances. Prevatte v. Prevatte, 377 S.E.2d 114,, 116 (S.C. Ct. App. 1989); Yarborough v. Yarbrough, 314 S.E.2d 16, 19 (S.C. Ct. App. 1984).

ELEVENTH: The preponderance of the evidence supports a ruling that the decedent and Thomas intended to and agreed to be married after the decedent was divorced from Cynthia Whaley. This evidence is found in the decedent and Thomas holding themselves out to the public, social friends, tour bus passengers, and contracting as husband and wife. It is also found from the Social Security Administration recognizing their marriage.

(R. pp. 12 - 13).

The Appellate Panel found the preponderance of the evidence established the Decedent and Emily Thomas agreed, intended, and held themselves out to be married after the Decedent's divorce became final. A common law marriage is formed when two parties mutually agree to be married. Johnson v. Johnson, 235 S.C. 542, 550, 112 S.E.2d 647, 651 (1960). No formality is required and the agreement to be married may be inferred under South Carolina law:

No express contract is necessary; the agreement may be inferred from the circumstances. The fact finder is to look for mutual assent: the intent of each party to be married to the other and the mutual understanding of each party's intent. Consideration is the participation in the marriage. If these factual elements are present, then the court shall find as a matter of law that the common-law marriage exists. Further, when the proponent [of the common-law marriage] proves that the parties participated in "apparently matrimonial" co-habitation, and that while co-habiting the parties had a reputation in the community as being married, a rebuttable presumption arises that a common-law marriage was created.

Callen v. Callen, 365 S.C. 618, 624, 620 S.E.2d 59, 62 (2005).

The Appellant argues the Appellate Panel's ruling was affected by an error of law because Emily Thomas never knew of the impediment and, therefore, could never have agreed or intended to enter into a common law marriage after the

impediment was removed. The Appellant cites no authority that such knowledge is required. This issue was discussed by Judge Hearn in Prevatte v. Prevatte, 297 S.C. 345, 377 S.E.2d 114 (Ct. App. 1989):

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